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OPINION
RIDGWAY, J udge-:
In fhis action, pro se plaintiff Daniel .Atteberry‘ contests the decision of the U.S. Customs
Service (“Customs™)' re-classifying for tariff purposes certain merchandise which he describes as

“bike[s}/kart[s}/scooter(s],” imported from the Netherfands through the Port of Seattie in May 2001,

'"The Customs Service was reorganized in-2003, and is now the Bureau of Customs and
Border Protection of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security.
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Customs liguidated most of the merchandise nnder various subheadings of Chapter 8’} of the
Harmonized Tanff Schedule of the United States (2001) (“HTSUS”} (which covers “Vehicles Other
Than Railway or Tramway Rolling-Stock, and Parts and Accessories Thereof™), a.nd. assessed duties
{(depending on the item) at rates of up to 10% ad va:’orem.. See Customs Surmons and Protest
Information Report (aftached to Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 9, 2604)}. Plaintiff contends that
the merchandise instead is properly classifiable as entered, under HTSUS subheading 9501
(“Wheeled toys designed to be ridden by children . . . ), duty-free. See id.; Complaint (with

| attachments). |
| The history of this litigation can be traced through the three opinions it has épawhed to date
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pursuant to 28 U.8.C. § 2636(a)(1), which argued that action was not filed within 180 days of “date
of mailing” of notiée of denial of protest) (“Atteberrv I”); 27 CIT 1051 (2003) (denying motion for

reconsideration of Atteberry I) (“Atteberry I); and 27 CIT 1070 (2003) (denying motion to dismiss

pursuant to 28 Us.C §:2637(a) (2000),> which was based on Plaintiff’s failure to pay all duties
before co1nm.en§ing‘ action} (" Atteberry Hf’).

Now pending befo;e the .C(}urt is Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Its Motion to Djsmiss,
To Amend Its Answer, and For Judgment on the Pleadings, and its brief in suppoﬁ thereof. See

generally Defendant’s Memorandum in Support of Its Motion to Withdraw Its Motion to Dismiss, .

Al statutory references herein are to the 2000 edition of the United States Code,

Similarly, all references to regulations are to the 2001 edition of the Code of Federal
Regulations. The pertinent text of the provisions cited remained the same at all times relevant here.
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To Amend [ts Answer, and Fof Judgment on the Pleadings (“Def. ’s Brief™); see also Lct‘{er- to Court
from Counsel for Defendant (March 4, 2005) (Def.’s Supp. Brief”).

In sum and substance, the Gavemmen.t’s motion seeks to bring this litigation to a pragmatic
close. T.he Government ermphasizes that the duties at stake total less thaﬁ 3600 — a figure that wil!
quickly be dwarfe_ci by the “substantial economic impact” that “the parties and the judicial system.

~as.a whole” will face as a result of “discovery, motions, trial; and the very real risk of appeal and
re-trial” if the action pmcee.ds. See Def.’s Brief at 2 {emphasis ad.ded.).' The Government therefore
seeks to withdraw its Motion to Dismiss,’ to amend Defendant’s Answer to “admitf] that the

imported merchandise is classifiable as entered by plaintiff,” and to have judgment on the pleadings

[
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entered in Plaintiff’s favor., See Def’s Brief at 2,
?or reasons that are somewhat difficult to understand (and personal to him.self), Plaintiff
opposes the motion. See generally Plaintiff’s Response to All the Defendant’s Memorandum . . .
Motions (punctuation in the original) (“PL’s Brief"); Plaintif®s Response to Amended Answer;
Plaintiff's Response to Judge Delissa A, Ridgway, and Resubmission of Evidence Appearing to
Show the Government Has Been Lying to Me and the Court All Throughout This Case (“PL’s Supp.
Bref"}. |
Because it will confer on Plaintiff all the relief prayed for in his Complaint, and because —

as detailed below — it is otherwise manifestly “in the interests of justice,” Defendant’s Motion is

granted.

*Concurrent with its proposed withdrawal ofits Motion to Dismiss, the Government requests
vacatur of Atteberry ITl, which was addressed to that motion. See Def.’s Motion at 1-3, 6, 9;
Atteberry I, 27 CIT 1070.
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I. Background

The material facts of this case are reIa‘dyely straightforward, and not in dispute.’ In late May
2001, a shipment of “bike[s])/kart{s]/scooter[s]” from the Netherlands was enfered duty-free through
the port of Seattle by plaintiff importer, Daniel Atteberry. Mr. Atteberry is a relative novice at
importing, Wi.til éﬁiy one prior éxperience, in October 1999 — when, importing appafenﬂy the same
type Qf merchandise (albeit through a different port), the goods were liquidated as eﬁtered, duty-free.
Thus, before the events that gave rise to this case, Plaintiff had no prior experience with Customs’
protest process, and no experience with filing an action in tbis Court to chaliénge Customs’ denial
of a protest.

Based on his experience in his first foray into the world of importing, Plaintiff was apparently
surprised when Customs began inguiring into his second entry of the sarﬁe typeof meréhandise. He
nevertheless responded promptly to Customs’ two Requests for Information, which were conveyed
to him through his brokef. On his responses, he printed his telephone number in the appropriate box
 on the Customs form.

In late August 2001, a Customs Import Specialist telephoned Plaintiff, requesting certain
additional information, which he supplied in a letter sent several days later. By Notice of Action
dated September 5, 2001 and mailed to Pizﬁntiff at his Kenmore, Washington address, Customs
formally notjﬂed Plainti{T of its proposed reclassification of his merchandise, which would result i
a “rate advance” (effectively assessing duties on merchandise which he had entefed duty-free).

As a result of Customs’ Notice of Proposed Rate Advance, further te?ephahe and e-mail

“The facts summarized in this section are largely drawn from Atteberry I, 27 CIT 1670.
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communications between Customs and Plaintiff ensued. Although he filed a timely response to the
Notice of Proposed Rate Advance, Plaintiff did not prevail. By Notice of Action dated Septelﬁbcr
25, 2001 anci mailed to Plaintiff’s Kenmore, Washington address, Customs formally imtiﬁed him
that it had taken “rate advance” action on his merchandise “as proposed,” and that “an increase in
duties” would resuit,

A couple of weeks later, m mid-October 2001, Piéi.ntiff moved from his Kenmiore,
Washington address. His next contact with Customs was on Decemﬁer 20, 2001, when he filed a
timely Protest. His letter of Protest advised the agency that he had “No {mailing] Address at

present,” and provided his e-mail address (the same e-mail address that Customs had used to contact
him once before, in September 20011,

in the meantime, the merchandise at issue had bef;:a liquidated. At about the same time,
Customs issued its first bill fo Plaintiff for the duties and interest owed as a result of the rate |
advance. That bill ~ dated October 19, 2001 and sent to the Kenmore, Washington address — never
reached Plaintiff, who had moved from the address some days before. Indeed, the bill was
eventually retumed to Customs as undeliverable, on December 26, 2001, That same day, Customs
received Plaintiff’s Protest, which stated that he was no Eongel; at the Kenmore address but could still
be reached via e-mail. Customs nevertheless sent at least one more bill to the Kenmore address, for
a total of four bills — the last on February 3, 2002. Plaintiff maiﬁtains that he received none of the
four bills; and there is no evidence to suggest otherwise.

On April 3, 2002, Customs denied Plaintiff's Protest. That same day, a Customs

representative sent Plaintiff an e-mail message at the e-mail address provided on his Protest. The
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Customs representative explained that a decision had been reached on the Protest, and asked that
Plaintiff provide his “current mailing address™ so that a copy of the agency’s decision could be sent
to him. Plaintiffresponded via e-mail, and Customs’ decision on the Protest \#as dispatched to him
via U.S. Mail on April 9, 2003, at the “current mailing address” he provided to Customs, in Vashon,
Washington.

A handwritten notation the f%u:e of Customs’ Notice of Denial referred Plaintiff to a
highlighted passage on a Customs form attached to the docuxﬁant, which stated:

NOTE: Ifyour protestis denied, in whole or in part, and you wish to CONTEST the-

denial, you may do so by bringing a civil action in the U.S. Court of International

Trade within 180 days after the date of mailing of Notice of Denial. Youmay obtain

further information concerning the institution of an action by writing the Clerk of

U.S. Court of International Trade, One Federal Plaza, Mow York, NY 10007212

264-2800). '
(Emphasis"added.) The Notice of Denial made no mentio.,n of the assessment of duties and interest,
much less the amount of the assessment, Nor was the amount of the assessment communicated in
any of Customs’ other telephone and e-mail communications with Plaintiff, either before or after
the denial.

In the 180 days that followed Customs’ mailing of the Notice of Denial, Plaintiff evinced his
- continued interest in challenging Customs” action through a course of correspondence with the
Office of the Clerk ofthe Court. Eventually, Plaintiff com.pieted and submitted a Summons, together
with a two-page letter dateé_()ctobcr 3, 2002 (deemed his Complaint), which were received at the
Couri and filed on Monday, October 7, 2002,

Because that day was the first business day after October 6, which was — in turn — the 181

day following the mailing of Customs’ Notice of Deniai, Plaintiff satisfied the first of two applicable
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jurisdictional requirements. 28 U.S.C. § 2636(a)(1). See Attebf:ng L27CIT 751,267 F. Supp. 2d
1364.° It is, however, undisputed that Plaintiff did not pay “all liguidated duties, charges, or
exactions” before this action was filed.® The Government therefore sought to dismiss this action for
lack of subject matter jurisdiction, based on Plaintiff’s failure to comply with 28 U.S.C. § 2637(a).
The Government’s motion was denied in Atteberry 1T, which reasoned that “28 U.S.C. §
2637(a) clearly contemplates that an importer will be on notice éf the sum to be paid,” and that —
- where Custoris was on actual notice of Plaintiff‘ s “current mailing address" (and,. in fact, mailed the
denial of protest to him at that address), but failed to send even a single bill to Plaintiff at any address
during the critical 180-day period for commencement of an action in this court - Plaintiff’s failure
to pre-pay the assessed duties did nﬁt dew ive the court of jurisdiction. See generally Atteberry I

27 CIT at 1095.
- Experienced litigators know that, ﬁv’i’;h the meter running, there are some cases you can’t even

afford to win. Cognizant that the resources expended on litigation had already outstripped the

relatively modest sum in dispute (and would continue to mount rapidly), the Government expressed

*The Governmert initially sought to dismiss this action on the grounds that it was
commenced outside the 180-day window, The Government asserted that the Notice of Denial was
mailed April 3, 2002 (and, indeed, filed the swom statement of a Customs official to that effect).
That motion to dismiss was denied, however, after Plaintiff produced the “smoking gun” — the
envelope that Customs used to mail the Notice of Denial, postmarked April 9,2002. See Atteberry
L 27 CIT 751,267 F. Supp. 2d 1364,

“Plaintiff paid Customs the sum of $542 by personal check in April 2003, after a letter from
counsel for Defendant specified the amount owed. See Atteberry 111, 27 CIT at 1080 & n.31.
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an interest in an amicable resolution of this matter.”

Shortly after Atteberry IIl issued, the 7C0urt convened a teleconference with the parties to
discuss future proceedings in the case, and to encourage the parties to explore some sort of
compromise. In the course of that teleconference; the Court walked the parties through a basic
litigation cost/benefit analysis.

The Court explained to Plantiff that — although he had prevaﬂéd on both jurisdictional
challenges raised by the Government — he might stili lose on the merits of the case, either at the trial
level or on appeal. Plamntiff was also advised that, although the Clourt had m]ed in his favor on both
jurisdictional challenges, both of those rulings were extensions of the exésting law and could be
subject to appeal ag well. In other words, Plamtiff was wamed thet, even ifhe were to prevail on f;he-

merits of the case, ultimately he could still lose the case on appeal on purely jurisdictional grounds.

"Pro se litigants are relatively insensitive to the typical economic incentives that drive the
conduct of most parties vis-a-vis legal proceedings. Inan August 6, 2003 teleconference in this case,
the Court reminded the parties that the amount in dispute — although a significant sum for Plaintiff
~1s, objectively, arelatively modest sum; and the Court noted that, if Plaintiff were paying counsel
to represent him (at the rate of $100 or $200 an hour, or more), he would have had a clear financial
incentive to settle long before. '

As the Supreme Court has observed, “[piro se petitioners have a greater capacity than most
to disrupt the fair allocation of judicial resources because they are not subject to the financial
considerations — filing fees and attorney’s fees — that deter other litigants from filing frivolous
petitions.” In re Anderson, 511 U.S. 364, 365-66 (1994) (quotation omitted).

To date, Plaintiff’s conduct of this litigation could not be deemed “frivolous.” But it is no
exaggeration to say that the case has consumed a disproportionate share of the resources (and
occasionally strained the patience) of the Court and counsel for the Government, as well as the two
lawyers who were successively appointed to represent him on a pro bono basis (and whom he
discharged). In any event, no plaintiff — pro se or not - is entitled to pursue litigation beyond all
reason,
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The Government expressed cbncéms about the impact of Atteberry III, and signaled its
tentative interest in appealing that ruling (if possible) at the appropriate time in the future. Following
the teleconference, the Court appointed a second lawyer to represent Plaintiff, and counsel for both
parties began settlement negotiations. Although the parties were unable to reach agreement on their
‘own, counsels’ mutual request for a settlement conference with the court suggested that an amicable
resolution might be possible. In papers filed in anticipat%on of the seltlement Conférence, Plaintiff’s
counsel explained:

Although {the parties} do disagree about the classification of the goods in question,

for purposes of a possible settlement, that has not been a significant issue. Instead,

the significant issues are the extent of the Court’s powers regarding classification for
future importations and under what circumstances, if_any, the Court should or would

be willing to withdraw any pricr decisions in this case,

See Letter to Court from Counsel for Plaintiff (Dec. 16, 2003). That assessment was confirmed by
counsel for the Government:

[Tthe most significant issues separating the parties seem fo be twofold. The first
concerns the extent of the Courl’s power to effect classification for future
importations of substantiaily sinlar merchandise. . . . The second significant issue
concerns whether the Court should or would be willing to withdraw { Atteherry I11],
and if s0, under what circumstances.

See Letter to Court from Counsel for Defendant (Jan. 9, 2004). Plaintiff* and counsel for the

*In early January 2004, Plaintiff’s second appointed counsel filed a Notice of Withdrawal.
The letter transmitting that Notice advised that the withdrawal was “at the request of Plaintiff” and
“against [counsel’s} advice,” but declined to provide further details, citing attorney-client privilege.
See Letter to Court from Counsel for Plaintiff (dated Jan. 8,2004). See also Plaintiff’s Response to
Judge Delissa A. Ridgway Order (dated Jan, 5, 2004) (filed by Plainti{f pro se, advising that he had
dismissed his attorney); Order (Jan. 16, 2004) (acknowledging Notice of Withdrawal, as well as
Plaintiff’s notice, and granting leave to withdraw appearance),

The first lawyer appointed to represent Plaintiff withdrew under similar circumstances.
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Government subsequently participated in a settlement conference with another jucige of the court.
However, no agreement resulied.

The Government persevered in an effort to come to some understanding with Plaintiff, The
parties filed multiple submissions, conferred with one another, and participated in anothér
teleconference with the Court in an effort to reach an agreement. Regrettably, those efforts once
again éame to naught, and the Government “felt constrained” to file the motion here at issue, See

_ Letter to Court from Counsel for Defendant (May 21, 2004).

H. Analvsis -

Granting the Government’s motion will — in the words of USCIT Rule 1 — “secure the just,
speedy, and inexpensive determination” of this action. Grantihg the motion will spare the
Government the need to soldier on with this litigation for the sole purpose of preserving its potential
future right to appeal Atteberry Il - Although the Government’s reading of Atteﬁsm Iif seems ‘;o
be overly broad and its fears about the potential implications of the decision appear unwarranted, the
bases for the opinion are obviated if the Government’s Motion to Dismiss is withdrawn. The
Government’s proposal thus reflects a creative; constructive, and eminently practical (if unusual)
means of resolving its own concerns on the jurisdictional issue, whilé at the same time protecting

the interests of other parties.

Apparently dissatisfied because the lawyer had declined to file with the Court certain papers that
Plaintiff himselfhad drafted, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Dismiss Attorney of Record (dated May 12,
2003). See Plaintiff’s Request That The Court Reconsider Court Rejection of Plaintif’s Motion in
Response-to Motion for Summary Judgment, and Denial of Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss {dated
May 12, 2003) His counsel filed a Notice of Withdrawal about a week later, indicating that the
action was “at the request of Plaintiff.”
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Further, granting the Government’s motion will afford Plaintiff the full measure of relief to
which he would be entitled, even assuming ihat‘ he were to eventually prevail on the merits of his
classification claim before this Court. Indeed, to the extent that the Government has signaled its
interest in a possible future appeal of Atteberry I, granting the Government’s motion actuaﬂy
affords Plaintiff greater refief than he could be accorded even if he prevailéd on his classification
claim on summary judgment or at trial before this Court, because granting the Government’s motion
obviates the possibility of Plaintiff’s loss on appeal.’

Finally, contrary to Plaintiff’s beiieg even 1f this action were to proceed and he were to
preveil on the merits of his classification claim on summary judgment or at trial,. such a
determination would have no res judicata effect as to any future importations. ’E’hﬁs, Plaintiff could 7
not achieve the tyﬁe of “victory” that h¢ secks even if the Government’s motion were denied.

In short, as discussed in greater detail below, gi‘anﬁng the Goyenunent’s motion ié manifestly

“in the interests of justice,” and Plaintiff”s objections to the moticn are unfounded.

A. Withdrawal of the Government’s Motion to Ismiss

At various points, the Government has suggested that — notwithstanding its general
inclination to reach some amicable resolution of this matter — it might fecl compelled to press on

with this [itigation for the sole purpose of preserving its potential right to appeal Atteberry 1. See,

’Granting the Government’s motion not only protects Plaintiff against potential loss on
appeal on jurisdictional grounds, it protects him against potential loss on appeal on the merits of his
classificafion claim as well. - :
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e.g., Def’s Brief at 6; Letter to Court from; Defendant (Mﬁy 21,2004); Defl’s Letter Memoranéum
(Feb. 2,2004) at 2.""

As a threshold matter, the Gévenunent expresses concern that “at the least, . . . the record
underlying [Atteberry I1I] was not fuily developed,” and indicates that the decision in Atteberry 111
took the Govammenf by surprise. See Def’s Brief at 1-2.)' However, in response to the
Government’s Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff argued that the “‘Cus‘zoms Service at no time has told
me/mentioned/or tried to inform me [that] I owed them the amount of § 542,” and that “I never
received a Bill . . . from Customs that [ owed duties . . . . My defense to the Government claim is
simplel;] T was never billed, nor asked to pay duties,” See Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s

Memoiainduin it Response to Motion for Summary Judgment and Denial of Dofondant’s Motion o
Dismiss (dated April 24, 2003); Plaintiff’s Response to Judge Delissa A. Ridgway (dated March 31,
2003) at 2.

Particularly in light of the relatively relaxed standards applied in construing the submissions

of pro se litigants, the quoted language seems more than sufficient to put both the Court and the

"The Government apparently evaluated various avenues of appeal, tentatively concluding
that Atteberry I could not appealed on an interlocutory basis, and that — depending on how the case
is resolved on the merits —the decision might not be appealable at the end of the case. See, eg.,
Def’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 22, 2004) at 4; Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Feb. 2, 2004) at 2;
Def.’s Brief at 2, 6; Letter to Court from Defendant (May 21, 2004), ‘

"See also Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 22, 2004) at 5-6 (arguing that Atteberry HI was
“essentially grounded . . . on disputed factual matters as to which the Government never had an
opportunity for . . . discovery,” stating that “the Court in effect wrote [Afteberry lII] concerning a
novel area of jurisdictional jurisprudence without the Government’s even having the opportunity to
submit any brief on the issue,” and asserting that “[Plaintiff] did not raise the jurisdictional grounds
relied on by the Judge; the Court acted sua sponie™). ‘
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Government on notice of the gravamen of Plaintiff’s jurisdictional argument — i.e., that he never
received a bill for the outstanding duties.® Moreover, to the extent that the Government believes
that it would have been better o have a more complete factuai record as a basis for its Motion to
Dismiss and the Court’s decision thereon, it has only itself to blame. The Government voluntarily
cho.se to file its motion af the outset of the case, in lieu of an Answer and before seeking discovery.
Even afier the Court began inguiring into Customs’ billing practices and oﬁligations, the
Government did not seek to withdraw its Motion to Disﬁziss, or to defer action on the motion
peﬁding discovery.® Any claim 6f ambush thus has a hollow ring.

The Government also suggests that Atteberry Il absolves Plaintiff of all respénsibility, and

sserts that “it is unfair to Customs — both fo the field officers and to the managers responeible for

o)

them — to effectively excuse Atteberry from taking care of business.” See genefally Def,’s Bricl at

3-4. The Government emphasizes that there was “a three or four month window between October

“In addition to Plaintiff's submissions, the Government was also on the receiving end of
several letters from the Court that put the parties on notice that, inter alia, the Court was analyzing
Customs’ billing practices and obligations under its regulations vis-a-vis Plaintiff’s claim that he was
never billed. See generally Letter to Parties from the Court (May 23, 2003); Letter to Plaintiff from
the Court (June 3, 2003). Those letters made it clear to any reader that the Court viewed this action
as something other than a straightforward “garden variety” case of a prospective plaintiff's failure
to pre-pay outstanding duties (as the Government sought to portray it).

Indeed, even before Atteberry 1II issued, the Government staked out its position, taking
exception to the Court’s inquiries into Customs’ billing practice and similar matters. See Def’s
Letter Memorandum (June 12, 2003). The Government thus obviously appreciated (and, moreover,
affirmatively objected to) the fact that, in considering the Government’s then-pending Motion to
Dismiss, the Court was looking beyond the conceded fact of PlaintifP's failure to pay the outstanding
duties before filing this action. :

“Nor did the Government seek reconsideration of Atteberry 1] after the fact,
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21, 2001 and early February 2602, during which Customs had virtually no new mailing a.ddréss for
[Plaintiff} and sent out four bills to his address of record.” See Def.’s Brief at 3. While those facts
are true, they are also largely irrelevant to the narrow holding in Atteberry I, which focﬁsed ona
different (and, for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction, much more critical) timeframe — the 180-
day period after Customs’ mailing of the denial of thé protest, during which time Plaintiffhad to act
to perfect jurisdiction in this Court, and during which time the agency admits tﬁat it sent no bills to
Plaintiff a1 aﬁy address. See Atteberrv I1I, 27 CIT at 1082, 1085 n.36, 1094-95.14 |
Distilied to its essence, Atteberrv HI held that — in the unusual circumstances of this case —
because 28 U.S‘.C‘ §2637(a) cléarly contemplates that importer will be on notic_e of amount of duties
to be paid, where Customs failed to send PIainﬁff even asingle bill within the 1&0-day period during

which Plaintiff had to perfect jurisdiction in this court, Plaintiff’s failure to pre-pay the duties did

“Indeed, Atteberry II expressly disclaimed any need to reach the issue of Customs’ actions
prior to April 2002, when the notice of denial of Plaintiff’s protest was mailed to him. See Atieberry
I, 27 CIT at 1085 n.36. ,

The Government nofes that “though plaintiff was required to pay [Customs’] bilis within 30
days, he did not,” and argues that “[i]t is unfair to hold someone in [Plaintiff’s] shoes faultless.” See
Def.’s Brief at 4.

As discussed above, the time period before the mailing of the notice of denial of Plaintiff’s
protest is essentially frrelevant for purposes of jurisdiction. But that is nof (o say that no
consequences attached to Plaintiff’s conduct, As a result of his actions and omissions during that
period (and beyond) ~ including, for example, his failure to file 2 notice of change of address with
the U.8. Postal Service, and his failure to ensure that Customs had on file an up-to-date address for
him ~ Plaintiff apparently failed to receive any of the four bills that Customs sent him. In effect,
Plaintiff’s actions and omissions operated to deprive him of the opportunity to minirize the amount
owed by paying Customs’ assessment promptly. Interest on the assessed duties therefore continued
to accrue, ensuring that the Government would be made whole notwithstanding Plaintiff's delay in
payment. Thus, nothing in Atteberry III held Plaintiff “faultless,” and nothing exempted him from
the accrual of interest on the principal owed, much less the payment of the duties assessed.
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" not deprive the court of ju?isdiction. In so ho]ciing, Atieb'egx Il addressed two inter-related
arguments advanced by the Government, relating to Costoms’ recordkeeping and billin g practiées..

First, the Government argued that —notwithstanding 19 C.F.R. § 24.3a(d)(1) - Customs was
notrequired to continue sending Plaintiff monthly bills, because Plaintiff had no “address of record”
on file with the agency. Second, according to the Government, Plaintiff had no “address of record”
on file with the agency because changes- to an importer’s “address of record” can be made only by
submitting a Customs Form CF 5106, “Notification _éf Importer’s Number or Application for
Importer’s Number, or Notice of Change of Name or Address™ (“CF 5106™); thus, the Government.
argued, Plaintiff’s e-muail to Customs in early April 2002 — which pz-ovidéd his “current matling
address,” in response to the agency’s request — could not constitute an official notice of changs of
his “address of record.””

In its pending motion, the Government explains that Atteberry Il poses potential operational
problems for Customs, as to both recordkeeping and billing. According to the Government, those

operational concerns — as well as concerns about the precedential effect of the opinion — would

weigh in favor of appealing Atteberry I (if possible) at the conclusion of this case on the merits.

Both the Government and the Court have referred frequently to the concept of an importer’s
“address of record.” It is worth noting, however, that the term does not appear either in Customs’
billing regulations (for example, 19 CF.R. § 24.3a(d)(1)) or in 19 CF.R. § 24.5(a), the regulation
that the Government cites as authority for the proposition that changes to importers” “addresses of
record” can be made only by submitting a CF 5106. Nor does it appear on CF 5106 itself.
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1. Concerns About Implications for Customs’ Recordkeeping Practices

The Government intimates that Atteberry Il makes it “incumbent on a Customs field officer
to attempt to make c.:hanges to an importer’s permanent records without proper authorization from
that individual.” See generally Def’s Brief at 2, 4-6; Def.’s Supp. Brief at 1-4. The Government
cautions that such a requirement “could well lead to more mistakes, rather than fewer, being made
in [Customs’] processing and communication of information required by importers,” Def.’s B;ief

at 2.'°

"In its brief, the Government describes the events of April 2002 relevant to this case:

[The Customs Entry Specialist who contacted Plaintiff in early April 2002] had a job
to do, and that was to mail a protest decision to plaintiff. Since the protest stated “No
Address at present,” she wrote to {Plaintiff] at the e-mail address he had put on the
Protest in December 2001. In an e-mail reply, [Plaintiff] sent her his “current”
mailing address. Presumably he wanted to know if his protest prevailed. Period.
Did he ask whether she could make the same change fo his permanent mailing
address? No. Did he ask how ke might make the same change to his permanent
mailing address? No. Did he inform [the Customs Entry Specialist] that this address
should be treated by Customs as his permanent mailing address? No. Did [the
Customs Entry Specialist] have any authorily to assume that [Plaintiff] wanted the
address to be recorded by Customs as his permanent address, particularly where there
was nothing in writing to that effect? No. What are her responsibilities at this point?
Nore.

Def.’s Brief at 5, But this line of argument is too facile, for several reasons. Just as the term
“address of record” is not used in the relevant Customs regulations or on CF 5106, so too those
reguiations and the form make no mention of “permanent mailing address.” And itis far from clear
that Customs can insist that an importer employ some specific linguistic formulation in such a
situation, particularly where (as here) the importer in question is not required by the terms of 19
C.F.R. § 24.5(a) to use CF 5106 to make a change of address.

Most telling, however, is the Declaration of Arthur Versich, proffered by the Government
{o establish that CF 5106 is the sole means of giving notice of change of address. The Versich
Declaration itself refers to an importer’s address as reflected in ACS as the importer’s “current
mailing address” — the exact same verbiage that the Customs Entry Specialist employed in her April
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The “rub™ here is the Government’s continued insistence that Plaintiff was required to give
- notice of his change of a,ddress.on Customs Form CF 5106, and that any other form of notice had
no effect. See gerzeraé!y Detf’s Brief at 4-6; Def’s Supp. Brief at 3-4. As Atteberry Il explained,
the authority that the Government cites for that proposition simply does not support it.

In its brief in support of the motion at bar, the Government reiterated its claim that ISCFR
§ ﬁ4.5(a) required Plaintiff to submit an ofﬁciaﬁ writien change of address on CF 5106. See Def.’s
Brief at 6. However, by its terms, that regﬂation requires only that aﬁ individual file a CF 5106
“with the first formal entry which is submitted or the first request for services that will result in the

issuance of a bill or a refund check upon adjustment of a cash collection.” 19 C.F.R. § 24.5(a). And,

2002 e-mail exchange with Plaintiff (but which the Government claims is something entirely
different from an importer’s “address of record” and/or “permanent mailing address”). Compare
Declaration of Arthur Versich (attached to Def.’s Supp. Brief) ¢ 10 with Atteberry HI, 27 CIT at
1078~79 & n.27 (cizing April 3, 2002 e-mail from Customs Entry Specialist to Plainfiff, requesting
his “current mailing address™). Either “current mailing address™ actually is a proper term of art for
the importer address in the ACS database, or it is not but the Government is seeking to hold Plaintiff
and other importers to a level of linguistic precision that even Customs officials themselves do not
meet. In either case, the Versich Declaration lends great credence to the view that the language of
the April 2002 e-mail exchange between Plaintiff and the Customs Entry Specialist should have been
understood by Customs as a reference to an “address of record” for purposes of Customs’ database
(or, at the very least, it should have triggered some further inquiry from someene at Customs).

Finally (and more generally), the series of rhetorical questions posed by the Government
(quoted above) is difficult to reconcile with the Government’s assertion elsewhere that “if an
importer were to write Customs a letter giving notice of an address change, then Customs would
send that importer a blank CF 5106. . . so that the address change can be property documented in
Customs records.” See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 2. In the case at bar, Plaintiff wrote Customs a letter
(actually, an e-mail message) giving notice of an address change. (Since according to his letter of
Protest — Plaintiff had “No Address at present” in December 2001, the “current mailing address”
he provided to Customs in April 2002 constituted “notice of an address change.”) The Government
fails to explain why, in light of these facts, “Customs [did not] send that mnporter [i.e., Plaintiff] a
blank CF 5106” in April 2002, “so that the address change [could] be properly documented in
Customs records.” . :
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as Atteberry [l observed, “it seems clear that [Plaintiff] did nothi;qg after mid-October 2001 which
would trigger any obligations under [ § 24.5(a)]. Certainly he did not ‘submit[]’ a “formal entry’ after
that time. Nor does it appear that, during that period, he made a ‘request for sex;l‘\rices that [would]
result in the issuance of a bill or a refund check.” Atteberry ITI, 27 CIT at 1083.17

Pressed to expiain its position, the Government finally (albeit grudgingly) conceded in
supplemen’cal briefing on the instant motian that 19 C.E.R. §24.5 “does not expressly state that an
importer must file 2 CF 5106 fo report a change of address,” and, moreover, that “there is no
regulation directly on point.” See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 2-3."* But the Govemment apparently
nevertheless still maintains that Plaintiff was obligated to use the form, and that any other means of
notice was of no effect. As auﬂlorit;' for its position, the Government now points to ‘fh? Notlce of
Proposed Rulemaking published When §.24.5 was being promulgated. See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 3
{citing 31 Fed. Reg. 11,394 (Aug. 27, 1966)). The Notice of Proposed Ru]emaking stated: |

Customs Form 5106, Notification of or Application for Importer’s Number or Notice

of Change of Name or Address. . ., is a new form which will be required to be filed

by each importer on the first importation . . .. Further filing will be required only

(1) for a change in name or the address of the party filing the form, or (2} under

certain circumstances when no transaction has been filed with customs under an

importer’s number within the last preceding 12 months.

31 Fed. Reg. 11,394 (emphasis added).

7 Atteberry I thus did siot hold that 19 C.F.R. § 24.5(a) imposes no obligation on importers
to file CF 5106s. Indeed, as the opinion notes, the regulation specifies certain events which trigger
an obligation to file. In Plaintiff’s case, however, none of those events occurred. See generally
Atteberry III, 27 CIT at 1083.

%See also Def.’s Supp. Brief at 4 {admitting that “{t]here is no regulation other than 19
C.FR. §24.5 requiring importers to use a specific form to file a change of address.”™.
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According to the Government, the “language in the Noticé of Proposed Rulemaking along
with the title of CF 5106 clearly indicate Customs’ intent that the form be used to report a changel
of name or address by an importer.” See Def.’s Briefat 3 (emphasis added). Butitisa longstanding
and well-established principle of statutory construction that, where the language of a statute is clear,
there 1s no recourse to legislative history. See 22 Norman J. Singer, Sutherland on Statutes and
Statutory Construction § 46:04 (6™ ed. 2000) (stating “courts are bound to give effect to the literal
meaning without éonsukin g other indicia of intent or meaning when themeaning of the statutory text
itselfis “plain” or “clear and unambiguous™ (citations omitted)). That i)rincip]e applies with equal
force to regulations and their history,

Whatever Custems’ intent may have been in promulgating I9CF R, §24.5
1s that — as the Government itself has now admitted — the regulation itself “does not expressly state
that an importer must file a CF 5106 to repoﬁ a change of address” under the circumstances

presented here. See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 2-3; Atteberry 11T, 27 CIT at 1083 (*Whatever may have

been the intent behind [§ 24.5(a)], nothing on its face applied to Mr. Atteberry.”).””

‘ “In the alternative, the Government aftempts te invoke 19 U.S.C. § 66. See Def.’s Supp.
Briefat 3-4. However, that statute is inapposite. It is merely a broad grant of awthority to the agency
to promuigate rules and regulations, including those requiring the use of specific forms for particular
purposes. Whether or not Customs could have promulgated a regulation requiring importers such
as Plaintiff to use CF 5106 to report changes of address in the circumstances of this case, the point
is that — without regard to the agency’s intent — Customs in fact never did promulgate such a
regulation, But see Atteberry III, 27 CIT at 1083 (questioning whether Customs can, by regulation,
mandate the use of a particular form for changes of address) (citing Intercargo Ins. Co. v, United

- States, 83 F.3d 391, 395 (Fed. Cir. 1996). N

The Government’s expansive reading of 19 CFR. § 24.5(a) is particularly difficult to sqﬁare
- with the explicit language of 19 C.F.R. § 111.30, which unequivocally imposes on customs brokers
an obligation to “immediately give written notice of [a] new address to each director of a port that
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It w&uld seem to be a relatively straightforward matter for C.UStOH'llS to amend 19 CF.R. §
24.5, to address the gap in the regulation highlighted by the events of this case énd to ensure that the
language of the regulation itself fully reflects Customs’ intent. See, e.g., Def.’s Supp. Brief at 3
(citing Notice of Proposed Rulemaking fc_)r 19C.F.R. §24.5, and emphasizing that — in promulgating
the reguiation - agency intended to require importers to file CF 5106 whenever there was a “change
n name or the address of the party filing the form™.2° Any such amendment would, qf course, be
irrefevant i(} the ca.sé at bar.”’ And, isz any event, granting the Géve_mment’s pending motion will

moot this tssue as to Plainti{f and the facts of this case.

2. Concerns About Implications for Customs’ Billing Practices

.The second basic oper'ational issue raised by the Govermnment concerns Customs’ billing
practices and compliance with 19 CF.R. § 24.3a(d)(1), which — in general — mandates that the

agency continue sending monthly bills fo an importer’s address of record “until the bill is paid or

1s affected by the change of address.” See 19 C.F.R. § 111.30. The existence and clarityof § 111.30
- demonstrate that Customs knows how to write a regulation that ~ on its face — affirmatively and
unambiguously imposes an obligation to immediately file changes of address with the agency. And
it effectively casts in sharp relief the inadequacies in the drafting of § 24.5(a).

*Note, however, that — even where a regulation expressly requires the use of a specific form
for a particular purpose - notice given in some other fashion is not necessarily invalid. See, e.g.,
Intercargo Ins. Co. v, United States, 83 F.3d 391, 395 (Fed. Cir. 1996) (cited in Atteberry IIT, 27 CIT
at 1083).

*' As of the date of its Supplemental Brief, the Government advised that no relevant changes
to Customs” regulations were “presently under consideration.” See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 6.
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otherwise closed.” }9-C.F.R. § 24.3a(d)1).* See generally Atteberry NI, 27 CIT at 1072-74
(summarizing Customs’ billiﬁg regulations). The Government asserts that Atteberry I implicitly
holds that “Customs has a duty under [19 C.F.R. § 24.3a(d)(1}] to be more pro-active in billing
importers — using‘ the phone, available e-mail addresses, and so forth — rather than assuming that
Customs can simply bill to .t‘he mmporter’s address of record.” See generally Def.’s Brief at 6.

The Government misreads Atteberry IIT. Nothing in that opinion should be understood to
suggest that § 24.3a(d)(1) requires Customs to do anything more than send regﬁ]ar monthly bills to
an importer’s “address of record” — although, to be sure, one of the central issues aédressed in the

} 13

opinion is what an importer’s “address of record” is, and how that address can be changed.

n the case at bar, however, Customs sent four bills to Plaintiff®s “address S of record,” then
simply ceased billing entirely. If (asthe Gdlvemmeni acknowledges) § 24.3a(d)(1) requires Customs
to continue sending monthly biils to an imi)arter’s “address of record,” and if — according to the
Government — Plaintiffnever properly changed that “address ofrecord” - it is unclear why Custéms
ceased sending bills to thﬁt address.”

As Atteberry IIT observed, “Logically, it would seem that an imyporter’s ‘address of record’

should — like a ‘last known address’ —remain his ‘address of record” until replaced by anew ‘address

2As Atteberry Il explains, “under Customs’ regulations, it is not the act of Hquidation — but,
rather, the bill for supplemental duties and interest — that triggers the importers’ obligation to pay.”
See generally Atteberry ITL 27 CIT at 1090 n.43 (citations omitted). “Moreover, billing is mandatory
under the statutory and regulatory scheme. It is no mere ‘courtesy” or formality.” Id. (citations
omitted).

PThe related question — why Customs failed to send bills starting in Aprii 2002 to the address
that Plaintiff supplied to Customs when asked for his “carrent mai 11ng address” — is addressed n
Sectmn A1, above.
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ofrecord.” Atteberry I, 27 CIT at 1082 n.33. “Caustoms cannot have it both ways. If, by Customs’
logie, the Kenmore address remained [Plaintiff’s] ‘address of record” until [it was] changed via some
particular form or pfocedure, then — by Customs’ logic - the agency shouid have contiﬁued to send
bills to that address.” Zd.

The Government states that Customs stopped sending bills to Plaintiff’s “address of record”
because the first bill (sent on or about October 21, 2001) was rétumed to Customs as undeliverable,
in late December 2001, According to the Government, “[hlaving received the notification that the
addressee was not at the address of record, Customs discontinued the mailing of the bills to that

address.” See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 5.% But there is some inconsistency inherent in that explanation.

First, Customs in fact did not cease billing nromptly upon the refum of the first bill in 1éte
December 2001, ‘At least one more bill was sent thereafter — the bill sent on orrab'out February 3,
2002, See Attebegj il 27 CIT at 1078 n.26.

Second, since (aé discussed above) Customs’ theory of “addresses of fecord” would seem fo
require that an importer’s “address of record” remain his “address of record” until he formally and
officially changes it via submission of a CF 5106, it is unclear in the case at bar what address (ifany)

Customs viewed as Plaintiff’s “address of record” afler the first bill was returned in December

2001,%

¥Significantly, the Government does not suggest that Customs’ decision to stop sending bills
to Plaintiff’s “address of record™ was based on Plainiiff’s notation on his December 26, 2001 letter
of Protest - “No Address at present.”

. BIndeed, in its supplememai brief, even the Government itself refers to Plaintiff as having
an “address of record”™ in April 2002, which the Government claims was not supplanted by the
“current mailing address” that Plaintiff supplied to Customs for purposes of mailing the notice of
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Third, the very fact {hat ~ in the case at bar ~ Customs apparently did alter (.e., delete)?
Plaintiff’s “address of record” in the agency’s database without receiving any é(;rt of formal or
official notice from Plaintiff (much less a CF 5106) would seem to significantly undercut any claim
that, as a matter éf fundamental policy, Customs makes no changes to its database of importers’
“addresses of record” absent formal submission of a CF 5106, See, e.g. Def.’s Supp. Briefat 4 (CF
5106 “has been consistently required by Customs to be filed by importers to report changes of
address”), 5 (“without a CF 5106, Customs had no authority to substitute the éddress of record
contained in ACS . . . [with] the ‘current mailing address’ provided by [Plaintiff] for purposes of
receiving the denial of his protest”).”’” It is more than passing strange to claim that Customs had the

of record” ghsent the
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authority to unilaterally delete from the agency’ ase Plaintiffs “addres
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submission of a CF 5106 and based solely on the return of a single piece of correspondence,” while

denial of his protest. See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 5. That language suggests that — metaphysically
speaking — the Government understands the concept of “address of record” to mean that an

importer’s “address of record” continues to be his “address of record” wntil replaced by a new
“address of record” (and, thus, that an importer cannot have no “address of record”).

®For the sake of clarity, the term “delete” is used herein. However, Customs’ ACS database
- apparently maintains a history of all changes made to importers’ names and addresses in the
database. See generally Declaration of Arthur Versich (attached to Def.’s Supp. Brief) 49 9-10, 12.
It therefore would probably be more accurate to say that Customs “invalidated” Plaintiff's “address
of record” in its database, after the October 2001 bill was returned to the agency as “undeliverable”
in late December of that year.

YSee also Atteberry 11T, 27 CIT at 1084 (quoting Det.’s Letter Memorandum (June 12, 2003)
923 ("without [a CF 5106 change of address form], no address changes are authorized to be made
by Customs in ACS”; “Customs officials had no authority to input an address change info ACS
without a CF 5106™)). ' ' ‘

- ®As indicated in note 24 above, the Government does not claim that Customs stopped
sending bills to Paintiff’s “address of record” based on the notation on his Decertber 2001 leiter of
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- at the same time - claiming that Customs lacked the authority to enter into its database as
Plaintiff’s “address of record” an address that Plaintiff himself supplied to Customs when asked by
an agency official for his “current mailing address.”

Finally, it bears emphasizing thét the circumstances surrounding Customs’ deletion of
Plaintiff’s “address of record” from its database are difficult to reconcile with the Government’s
'repre,;sentations about the agency’s professed concern for the integrity of that database. See, e.g.,
Def.’s Brief at 2 (referring to the “imperative that procedures function to deliver services without
endangering the reliability of information going mto [Customs’] databases”).

As Alteberry III explains, when Customs’ original bill was returned to the agency in late

ki WA, T 0l ey arcm e Im Attt s mfotiam A $ . PR R e Ty -
December 2001, “there was a handwritien notation on the envelope in which the bill was enclosed;

‘not @ this address.” There is no indication in the record who nade that notation. Nor is there any
indication where the October 2001 bill languished for more than two months.” See Atteberry 11, 27

CIT at 1078 n.25. Morcover, none of the other three bills was ever returned to the agency. Id.”

Protest that he had “No Address at present.” The Government thus does not claim that Plaintiff’s
“address of record” was deleted from the Customs database based on any affirmative authorization
from Plantiff.

®The Government indicates that Atteberry Il requires “Customs fo send bills to an
importer’s address of record after being notified by the post office that the importer is no longer at
his address of record.” See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 10. Those are emphatically not the facts of this
case.

As outlined above, the envelope here (which was returned to Customs in late December
2001) was not the subject of any official U.S. Postal Service notice, and it bore no official return
labels or stamps. Instead, there was only a handwritten notation: “not @ this address,” with no
indication who made the notation or where the envelope had been for more than two months (from
the time it was mailed till the time it was returned to Customs). See Atteberry IIL, 27 CIT at 1078
& n.25. Nor is there any indication what became of the other three bills that Customs sent, which
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Customs thus made the decision to delete an importer’s addreSs of record” from its database -
without a CF 5106 or any other fonﬁ of authorization from the importer — based solely on the
strength of a single envelope, returned months later, bearing a handwritten notation.

To be sure, as the Government emphasizes, Customs is a “vast and complex” organ.izaﬂon
confronted with the daunting task of “routinely send{ing] bills, fefunds and various notices to
thousands of importers daily.” See Def.’s Briefat 2; Def.’s Supp. Bfief at 10. Anditis beyond cavil
that “the function of how changes should be made to Customs’ datagase are best handied
administratively, . . . rather than judicially.” See Def.’s Brief at 2, 6.

In any event, as noted above, the issues at the heart of Atteberry Hl are not Custoins’ billing

practices per se, but —rather — the closelyrelated c;.uestions. of what an importer’s “address of record”

is, and how that address can be changed. To the extent that Customs’ billing practices are implicated

in that opinion, granting the Government’s pending motion will effectively moot the issue,

were never returned to the agency. Jd.

Atteberry III outlined in some detail the various risks inherent in assuming (as Customs
apparently does) that, simply because a single piece of mail is returned as “undeliverable,” future
mailings to that address will necessarily be futile. See generally Atteberry Y11, 27 CIT at 1082 1n.33.

As noted there, “one of the inherent virtues of a regulatory scheme of monthly billing is that,
even if one properly-addressed bill is somehow waylaid or lost in the mails, subsequent bills will
reach their destination. Thus, in such a scheme, notice is not entirely dependent on one single bill.”
Atteberrv IT1, 27 CIT at 1083 n.33.
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3. Concemns About Precedential Effect

Apart from its concerns about the impact of Atteberrv Il on Customs’ day-to-day
recordkeeping and billin g operations, the Government also ekpresses concern about the precedential
effect of the opinion. According to the Government, it is “highly likely” that the Government would
pursue an appeal, if possible, at the conclusion of this case on the merits, “due to the far-reaching
effect of the decision.” See Def.’s Brief at 6; see élso Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 22, 2004)
at 3-4; Def’s Supp. Brief at 9-10; Def’s Letter to the Court (May 21, 2004); Def.’s Letter
Memorandum (Feb. 2, 2004) at 2,

It remains unclear why the Government finds Alteberry Il so unsettling. The holding was
intentionally drawn to be relatively naivow, and limited o the specific facts of the cass — and, as the
Government has acknowledged, those facts appear to be unique. See Def.’s Supp. Brief at 10.
Indeed, the language of the opinion ifself erﬁphasizes that it “represents no grand assault on the
citadel of sovereign immunity.” Atteberry IIT, 27 CIT at 1094, Rather, “[t]he holding . . . is very
limited indeed” — 7.e., limited to cases where Customs not only (1) “was on- actual notice of an
importer’s current mailing address,” and (2) “in fact, used that [current mailing]‘ address to mail its
Notice of Denial of Protest to him,” but also nevertheless (3) “failed . . . to send the importer even
a single bili at that address during the critical 180-day period that followed.” Id,

The Government has nevertheless voiced fears that Atteberry I could prove to be the
proverbial “camel’s nose under the fent” — that is, that “while fhe facts of this case appear to be
unique, [Atteberry 1T may be int’erpreted'and cited for the 'propéssiti.on that, contrary to 28 U.S.C.

§ 2637(a) and the well-established judicial precedent, liquidated duties do not always have to be paid
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in order to commence a court action under 28 U.S.C. § 1581(a). Plaintiffs may argue that the -
principles of [Atteﬁergy 1} apply te other factual scenarios where liquidated duties were not paid
for some reason.”” See Def.’s Supp. Bricfat 9.7

Initially, the Government even forecast a potential “flood[]” of “new litigation.” See Def.’s
Letter Memorandum (Jan. 22, 2004) at 4. Fortunately, that dire prediction has not been borne out
by time. All signs indicate that the membez-'s of the customs and international trade communﬁy read

the opinion as narrowly as if was writien. Atteberry [l thus has not triggered an avalanche of cases.

4, Withdrawal of the Motion to Dismiss and Vacatur of Atteberry 11T

In short, the Government’s concerns about the reach of Atteberry III may well be
exaggerated. On the other hand, there is more than a kernel of truth in the adage that “hard cases
_ Vmake bad law” — and, iz many ways, this is indeed a “hard case,” both‘on the facts and the law.
As the Government aptly observes, “even in é context of éontinuing disagreement over the

relative saliency of the facts, surely it is in the interests of justice for this case to end.” See Def’s

*"The Government worries that, notwithstanding the unique facts of the case and the narrow
‘holding of the opinion, Atteberry Il may “undermine[] the long-standing and well-established legal
princinle that the payment of liquidated duties at the time of the commencement of a court action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1581(a) is a condition precedent to invoking the jurisdiction of the Court of
International Trade, which has been strictly corstrued by the courts.” See Def.’s Supp. Briefat 9
(citing Glamorise Foundations, Inc. v. United States, 11 CIT 394, 661 F. Supp. 630 (1987); Am. Air
Parcel Forwarding Co. v. United States, 6 CIT 146, 573 F. Supp. 117 (1983); Melco Clothing Co.
v. United States, 16 CIT 889, 804 F. Supp. 369 (1992)).

But Atteberry Il clearly distinguished this case from the line of cases that the Government

cites. See Atteberry 111, 27 CIT at 1081 & n.32. As Attebeiry 1Tl explained, unlike the case at bar,

‘none of those cases “involved a claim that Customs had failed to notify the importer of the duties
and interest owed.” Id. ' S
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Brief at 1; see also Def.;s Brief at 6 (At this point, this is not an appeal and we are not asking for
areversal. ... [W[e believe that it is less important to the fair and efficient resolution of this case
that we are right, than the fact that reasonable minds could differ, and that due to the far-reaching
effect of [Atteberry 11}, it is highly likely the Government would pursue an appeal.”). Particularly
in light of the sui generis nature of the case and the relatively modest amount in dispute, it makes
little sense to require the Government to persevere i this litigation simply to preserve its potential
right (o appeal Atteberry i}]l at some point in the future. And, ifthe Government’s Motion to Dismiss
is withdrawn, the grounds for that opinion are obviated.

Plaintiff objects to allowing the Government to withdraw its Motion to Dismiss, and to

TTT A e o a1 1. -

ating Atieberry 1. According to Plaintiff: “They [the Government] have whined insistently
about what a burden this ruling will have on Customs and it must be changed. Changing the Ruling
would Settle the case in the Government’s favor.” See P1.’s Supp. Briefat 2. The general thrust of
Plaintiff’s objection thus appears to be that vacatur of Attébemg 1 will somehow diminish his
victory over the Government.r See P1.’s Brief at 1 (“All other things my time [imits and paying the
Cost have been ruled upon. It is now time for Summary Judgment on the part of Plaintiff”).
However, as explained elsewliere herein, the result of granting the Govenunent’s'ﬁmtion isto award

Plaintiff the full measure of relief to which he would be entitled if he were to prevail on every issue

at every stage of litigation, and the case went all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court.*

'In any event, as the Government points out, granting the pending motion will not make
Atteberry IH simply disappear (as Plamtiff seems to fear). Plaintiff will still be able to point to the
- opinion “on the books.” As the Government puts it, “the underlying rationale” of the decision is
“still ... ‘out there” as a model, its persuasiveness commensurate with the interest taken in it.” See
Def.’s Brief at 3. :
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Moreover, contrary to Plaintiff’s implications, there is th_ére nothing questionable or improper
about the Government’s proposal. See, e.g., Plaintiff’s submiésion captioned Mailing Address
Notice, Phone and Email, Fax {undated, served Jan. 16, 2004) (“[A}s‘ for [Atteberry HI] being
revised, I think this is for the appeal courts, if the Defendant doesn’t like 1t Not to reargue it in front
of the J ﬁdge cause they don’t like it. 've never seen it work ﬂfdt Qay without someéﬁe s;;reamin.g.‘
injustice.”). The _Govemment correctly cbserves that a trial co-z;ﬁ't “always ha[s] the poiver to modify

earlier orders in a pending case.” See Def.’s Brief at 9 (and cases cited there) (quoting, inter alia,

Kapco Mfg. Co. v. C&O Enterprises, Ine,, 773 F.2d 151, 154 (7% Cir. 1985)); see also Def.’s Brief

At T 7
dr /oy

court “has the inherent power to dismiss, modify or vacate - an interlocutory order, prior to
the entry of ﬁnai judgment™).

In the circumstances of this case, it is clear that the exercise of the Court’s inherent power
will serve the interests of justice; and will work to secure “the just, speedy, and inexpenéive

~ determination” of this action. See USCIT Rule I. The Government’s Motion to Withdraw

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss is therefore granted, and Atteberry HI is vacated.

B. Amendment of the Answ_er

In addition to seeking to withdraw its Motion to Dismiss, the Government also requests leave
to amend its Answer to admit that Plaintiff’s mercbandise is claslsilﬁabie as entered. See Def.’s Brief
at 1{5,' 12. Plaintliff opposes the Govenm’zent’s request — apparently because it is conditioned on the
granting of the Government’s motion to withdraw its Motion to Dismiss and the vacatur of Atteberry

IIT. SeePl.’s Response to Amended Answer (“Its either amended or its not, Plaintiff won’t except
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[accept] conditions . . . Plaintiff will accep’; the Defendants admitting that The Karts are as he Claims
without conditions.™).

Under the Rules of the Court, a party may amend its pleading in the circumstances prelsented
here only with the written consent of the opposing party, or by leave of the Court. However, “leave
shall be freely given when justice so requires.” USCIT Rule 15(a). As detailed herein, granting the
pending motion jWi]i afford Plaintiff the full measure Of’l‘.eii@f to *&hich. he could be found entitled
in this action, and will further “the just, speedy, and inéxpensive determination” of the case, in
accordance with the Rules of the Court. See USCIT Rule 1.

Justice therefore requires that the Government be granted leave to amend its Answer.

C. Entrvof J udgment on the Pleadings

The Government’s final request for relief seeks the entry of judgment on the pleadings.
Pursuant fo Rule 12(c) of the Rules of the Court, any party may move for judgment on the pleadings,
provided that tﬁe pleadings are closed and that the motion will not delay frial. See USCIT Rule
12(c). Such amotion is “designed to dispose of dasés wfxem the material facts are notin dispute and
a judgment on .the merits can be reﬁdered by looking to the substance of the pleadings and any

judicially notic.ed facts.” Forest Labs., Inc. v, United States, 29 CIT , , 403 F. Supp. 2d

1348, 1349 (2005), aff"d, F.3d , 2007 WL 150438 (Fed. Cir. Jan. 23, 2007) {citing Hebert

Abstract Co. v, Touchstone Properties, 1td., 914 F.2d 74, 76 (5% Cir. 1990)). See generally 12 James |

Wm. Moore et al., Moore’s Federal Practice § 12.38 (3& ed. 1999),

As the Government points out, however, this is no typical motion for judgment on the

pleadings. See Def.’s Briefat 11 (contrasting the case at bar with Char_ig v. United States, 859 F.2d
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893, 894 (Fed. Cir. 1983)). In the usual case, a defendant seeks judgment dismissing a plaintiff’s
complaint because there is no state of facts that plaintiff could prove that would enﬁi’ic him to relief.
Thus, in general, entry of judgment on the pieadir;gs is limited to situations “where ‘it appears 1o a
certainty that plamntiff is entitled to no relief under any state of facts which could be proved in
support of his claims.”” Qwen v. United States, 851 F.2d 1404, 1407 (Fed. Cir. 1988) (citations
omitted).

In contrast to the convenﬁonai case, the Government here éeeks to have judgment entered
against Defendant énd in favor of Plaintiff, granting Plaintiff all relief'to which he is legally entitled
under his Complaint. See Def.’s Briefat 11. But Plaintiff opposes fhe entry of judgment in its favor,
adgment) instead. See PL's Brief at 1 (Plaintiff is entitied to ruling
either through trial or Summary Judgment . . . Defendants kﬁow that they will lose the classification
issue. And they want to Cut Their {losses].”). |

Apparently, Plaintiff is resisting the Government’s offer of j udgment on the pleadings and
insisting on his “déy in court” because he believes that a-decision on the meﬁts of his classification
claim will serve as res judicata as to future imports. See PL.’s Brief at 1 (“Plaintiff wants a ruling

from the Court finding that the Karts are Classified at the fime of import. As it sets Plaintiff on equal

fobting when Plaintiff imports the Karts again. Plaintiff wants a ruling on the Classification issue

N R

“See also Pl.’s Letter Memorandum (Dec. 16, 2003) (noting that one of the two significant
issues frustrating settlement discussions is “the extent of the Court’s powers regarding classification
for future importations”); Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 9, 2004) (noting parties’ disagreement
as to “the extent of the Court’s power to effect class,]ﬁcauon for future importations of substantially
similar merchandise”). -
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Even if this case were to be decided on the Iﬁerits, and even if Plaintiff prevailed {(both here
and on appeal), the relief that Plaintiff seeks would elude him. As discussed in the Court’s March
18, 2004 teleconference with the parties (and és summarized in Defendant’s Letter Mefnorm}dum
of I anu.al;y 22, 2004), the Supreme Court has held that, in customs classification cases, a
determination of fact or law with respect to one importation is “not res judicata in respect of a

subsequent importation involving the same issue of fact and the same question of law.” United

States v. Stone & Downer Co., 274 U.S. 225, 233-37 (1927). Sse a_lso Avenues in Leathen ne. v,

United Stﬁtes, 317 F.3 1399 (Fed. Cir. 2003); 3V, Inc. v. United States, 23 CIT 1047, 83 F. Supp.

2d 1351 (1999); ¢of. Daimler Chrysler Corp. v. United States, 442 F.3d 1313, 1321 (Fed. Cir. 2006);

Avenuesin Leather, Inc v, United Stateg 423134 1326, 1330-31 (Fed, 5. 2005): Outlet Book Co.
I

v. United States, 14 CIiT 458, 465, 743 F. Supp. 88 1, 888 (1990); Schott Optical Glass. Inq. v. United
States, 750 F.2d 62, 64 (Fed. Cir. 1984). See generally Def.’s Letter Memorandum (Jan. 22, 2004)
at 1.2,

The effect of the admis‘siens in Defendant’s Amended Answer, together with its Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings in favor of Plaintiff, thus is to grant Plaintiff all the relief to which he
could bé 1egai],§ entitled — classification (and reiiquidatiqn) ofhis merphandise, duty-free, as it was
entered. Plaintiff has nothing more to gain (and, indéeé, potentially much to Idse) by proceeding
with litigation. |

Deposit Guaranty National Bank v, Roper, 445 U.S. 326 (1980), presented the question

whether a plaintiff who is offered all the relief he demands may refuse that offer and insist on a trial

instead. The answer 1s no. According to Roper, a party “who receives all that he has sought
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generally is not aggrieved By the judgment affording that relief and cannot appeal from it.” Roper,
445U.S. at 333, Indeed, the Court suggested that the same principle would likely apply to a plaintiff

who was offered all he sought before trial. See also 3V, Inc. v. United States, 23 CIT 1047, 83 .

Supp. 2d 1351.%

Where — as here ~ the Government is wﬂIing to provide all the relief egally available to
Plaintiff by reliquidating Plaintiff's merchandise as enter_ed, duty-free, there is no longer a case or
controversy between the parties, and the Government’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings in

favor of Plaintiff must be granted. |

*In 3V, Ine, the plaintiff challenged Customs’ classification of its imported merchandise in
one duty-free provision of the HTSUS, arguing that the merchandise was properly classifiable in
another duty-free provision. The court granted the Government’s motion to dismiss the action for
lack of ajusticiable controversy, holding that it did not present a live case or controversy as required
by Article Il of the U.S. Constitution. 3V, In¢. v. United States, 23 CIT at 1049, 83 F. Supp 2d at.
1353. The court there explained:

The only poésible interest Plaintiff has is in the effect of a classification
determination on future cases. . . . [D]eclaratory relief sought to affect the outcome
of future entries is not available for § 1581 (a) classification cases,

3V, Inc,, 23 CIT at 1050, 83 F. Supp. 2d at 1353 (citation omitted). The court concluded that —
because netther party had an interest or stake in the outcome of the case — the classification decision
was moot. 23 CIT at 1049, 83 F. Supp. 2d at 1353, See also Vanderhoof Specialty Wood Prods..
Inc.v. United States, 28 CIT __, 2004 WL 483164 at * 2 (and cases cited there) (2004).
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111, Conclusion
For all the reasons set forth above, Defendant’s Moticn to Withdraw Its Motion to Dismiss,
To Amend Its Answer, and For Judgment on the Pleadings in favor of Plaintiff must be granted.

i udginent will enter accordingly.

18/ Delissa A, Ridgwav
Judge

Decided: January 23, 2007
New York, New York



UNITED STATES COURT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

DANIEL ATTEBERRY,
Plaintiff,
V. | Court No. 02-00647
UNITED STATES,

Defendani.

JUDGMENT

In accordance with Slip Opinion 07-13 issued this date in this matter,
NOW, therefore, in conformity with said decision, it is herchy

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant’s Motion to W1thdraw Iis Motion
to Dismiss is glanted and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s
‘Action for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction (dated February 14, 2003) is deemed withdrawn as
-of this date; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Atteberry v, United States, 27 CIT 1070
(2003) is vacated; and it is further

ORDERED, ADIUDGED and DECREED that Defendant’s Motion to Amend its Answer,
to admit therein the implied allegation in Plaintiff*s Compfamt {Plaintiff’s letter to the Court of
October 3, 2002) that the imported merchandise at issue in this action is classifiable as entered by
Plaintiff, and to deny all other allegations in the Complaint or to deny having knowledge or
information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of those allegations, is granted; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant’s Amended Answer is deemed
filed as of this date; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings against Defendant and in favor of Plaintiff pursuant to the admissions in the Amended
Answer ig granted; and it is further



ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that, in accordance with Defendant’s Amended
Answer and its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings in favor of Plaintiff, the imported
merchandise covered by Entry No, 603-1048306-4 made at the Port of Seattle, Washington, on or
about May 23 or May 24, 2001, shali be classified as entered by Plaintiff; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Bureau of Customs and Border
Protection of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security shall religuidate Entry No. 603-1048306-4
as entered by Plaintiff Daniel Atteberry, and shall refund to P‘tamuff any excess duties paid, together
with interest thereon as provided by law.

S/ Delissa A. Ridgway
‘ Judge

Dated: January 25, 2007
New Yorl, New York





